RECEIVED

Jul 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-26-03604

Appellate Case No. 2024-000772

Waterfall Investment and Construction Group, LLC, *Appellant,*

v.

A&E Construction & Maintenance, LLC, Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders, Creative
Drafting and Designs, Defendants,

of which Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders is the *Respondent.*

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**WRIGHT, WORLEY, POPE,
EKSTER & MOSS, PLLC**
Attorneys for Appellant

Kenneth R. Moss, SC Bar No. 15520
Brittany C. Moore, SC Bar No. 102780

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Had the statute of limitations expired as to any of Plaintiff/Appellant Waterfall Investment and Construction Group, LLC's ("Waterfall") causes of action at the time the claims were filed?
- B. Could summary judgment be appropriately entered against Waterfall on Waterfall's equitable indemnity claim?
- C. Were Waterfall's claims for negligence, breach of contract, and/or contractual indemnity duplicative of its equitable indemnity cause of action?
- D. Did Waterfall's execution of a Settlement Agreement and Release with a third party serve to extinguish Waterfall's right to seek contribution from Defendant-Respondent Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders ("Ponce")?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action is before this Court on appeal from Orders of the Horry County Court of Common Pleas, the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., presiding in Case No. 2019-CP-26-03604. (*Order Granting Defendant Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders' Mot. for Summ. J.*; R. pp. ____.) Specifically, the action was before the Court of Common Pleas for a hearing on March 11, 2024, upon *Defendant Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders' Motion for Summary Judgment with attached Exhibit A* that was filed on August 06, 2023. (R. pp. ____.) The Court's Order recited that the Court had considered the Motion filed by Ponce on August 6, 2023, and filed the *Order Granting Defendant Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders' Motion for Summary Judgment* on April 17, 2024. (R. pp. ____.) Thus, final judgment is entered on Ponce's behalf, ending this case with prejudice. (R. pp. ____.)

Waterfall timely filed a *Notice of Appeal* on May 9, 2024 (R. pp. ____); transcripts of the proceedings were ordered and then received on May 28, 2024.

The salient facts established in the record are as follows. In March 2017, Waterfall entered into a contract for the construction of a residence in Horry County, South Carolina for James

Daniel Smith, Sr. and Frances Smith (jointly referred to as the “Smiths”). (*Am. Compl.*, p. 2, ¶ 6, R. pp. ___; *David Brown Affidavit* filed March 7, 2024 (“*Brown Aff.*”), p. 1, ¶ 3; R. pp. ___.) Waterfall contracted with a licensed residential home builder, Mr. Clodfelter, to supervise the construction. (*Brown Aff.*, p. 2, ¶ 8; R. p. ___.) Waterfall also entered into contracts with various subcontractors, including Ponce. Ponce agreed to act as a framing subcontractor on the construction project. (*Am. Compl.*, p. 2, ¶ 7, R. p. ___; *Brown Aff.*, p. 2, ¶ 6, R. p. ___.)

During the construction of the residence, the Smiths complained about the status and quality of the construction. (*Am. Compl.*, p. 2, ¶ 8, R. p. ___.) The Smiths withheld funds due on the construction project, which caused Waterfall to halt construction. (*Am. Compl.*, p. 2, ¶ 8, R. p. ___.)

On June 7, 2019, Waterfall filed a Complaint against the Smiths in the court below for amounts due and owing under the construction contract. On September 9, 2019, the Smiths asserted Counterclaims against Waterfall for numerous construction-related defects concerning the residence and a Third-Party Complaint against Waterfall’s principal, David A. Brown and Wife, Lynne Brown. (*Answer and Countercl.*, R. pp. ___.) The Counterclaims were for breach of contract, negligence-gross negligence, breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, violation of South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. The third-party claims asserted a violation of the Statute of Elizabeth. (*Answer and Countercl.*, pp. 3–11, R. pp. ___.)

During the course of litigation, Waterfall learned that Ponce failed to perform his framing obligations in a good and workmanlike manner, and that Ponce’s defective framing work was the primary source of the action the Smiths brought against Waterfall. (*Am. Compl.*, p. 2, ¶ 11, R. p. ___; *Brown Aff.* p. 3, ¶ 12, R. p. ___.)

On October 24, 2019, Waterfall filed a Third-Party Complaint against Ponce. (*Waterfall's Reply to Defs.' Countercl. and Third-Party Compl.*, R. pp. ____.) In that pleading, Waterfall alleged claims for equitable indemnity, negligence, and contribution against Ponce. (*Waterfall's Reply to Defs.' Countercl. and Third-Party Compl.*, pp. 10–13, R. pp. ____.)

On November 18, 2022, Waterfall entered into a mediated Settlement Agreement with the Smiths. Other subcontractors were part of the settlement; however, Ponce declined to participate in the settlement. Under the terms of the settlement, Waterfall was obligated to: (i) repurchase the subject home from the Smiths; (ii) pay the Smiths directly the sum of \$225,500.00; and (iii) forego contractual damages in the amount of \$180,283.28. (*Am. Compl.*, p. 3, R. p. __.)

A written Settlement Agreement and Release was executed by David Brown, as the managing member of Waterfall, and the Smiths on December 29, 2022. (*Settlement Agreement*, filed August 6, 2023, pp. __, R. pp. ____.) Paragraph 10 of this contract provides, in pertinent part:

All Settling Parties . . . are hereby releasing the other Settling Parties and their respective employees, former employees, agents, attorneys, insurers, and related parties from all claims and damages arising from the State and Federal Litigation, **yet specifically preserving any and all claims and potential claims that Waterfall, has or may have against Third-Party Defendants Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders (“Ponce”)** . . . Ponce . . . will **NOT** be a party to any release relevant to this Settlement Agreement. The Smiths, as part of this Settlement, assign any and all claims and potential claims they have or may have against Ponce to Waterfall as part of this settlement. No Party to this Settlement Agreement is releasing Ponce . . . from any liability or potential liability related to the State Litigation.

(*Emphasis added; Settlement Agreement*, filed August 6, 2023, p. 4.)

On August 6, 2023, Ponce filed a motion for summary judgment with the trial court. (*Ponce's Mot. for Summ J.*; R. pp. ____.) In that motion, Ponce argued that Waterfall's claim for negligence was “nothing more than a disguised and repeated claim for equitable indemnity on the on the basis that there is no enforceable written contract applicable to the work Waterfall allegedly

performed on the subject home.” (*Ponce’s Mot. for Summ. J.*, p. 2.; R. p. ___.) In addition, Ponce argued that because the Smiths never asserted any claims against him within three (3) years from the date Waterfall filed its Third-Party Complaint against him, the statute of limitations as to any negligence claim had expired. (*Id.*; R. p. ___.) Ponce also asserted that Waterfall’s contribution claim was improper, as “all claims in this matter” other than Waterfall’s claims against Ponce had been settled, and by the terms of the Settlement Agreement, Waterfall’s purported liability was not discharged by the Settlement; therefore, Ponce could not be held liable for contribution under S.C. Code § 15-38-20. (*Id.*; R. p. ___.)

On August 19, 2023, Waterfall was granted leave to file an Amended Complaint, and filed an Amended Complaint against Ponce that sought to realign the parties and the claims remaining after the mediated settlement. (*Order Granting Pltf’s Substitution of Counsel and Leave to Amend Complaint in Order to Realign the Remaining Parties & Claims After a Mediated Settlement; and for a Revised Scheduling Order*; R. pp. ___; *Waterfall’s Am. Compl. to Realign the Parties and Claims Remaining after a Mediated Settlement*, R. pp. __.) In addition to the original claims for negligence, equitable indemnity, and contribution that had been brought against Ponce in the original Complaint, the Amended Complaint included causes of action against Ponce for breach of contract and breach of implied warranties. (*Am. Compl.*, pp. 8–9, R. pp. __.) On August 26, 2023, Ponce filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint.

The trial court held a hearing on the matter on March 11, 2024. On April 17, 2024, the trial court entered an Order granting Ponce’s motion for summary judgment. In doing so, the court determined that Ponce’s “liability for defective construction arising from work performed at the Smith residence expired prior to [Waterfall’s] settlement with the Smiths on November 22, 2022.” (*Order*, p. 4.) Thus, the trial court granted Ponce’s motion for summary judgment on Waterfall’s negligence and breach of warranty claims on statute of limitations grounds. In addition, the court

granted Ponce's motion as to Waterfall's breach of contract and contractual indemnity claims on the basis that Waterfall did not produce a written indemnity agreement. (*Id.*) Finally, the trial court found that Waterfall "is not fault-free by admission in its representative affidavit[.]" (*Id.*) Based on this finding, the trial court granted Ponce's motion as to Waterfall's equitable indemnity claim. (*Id.*)

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard used by the trial court. . . . A grant of summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 109-10, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008); *see* Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Like the trial court, the appellate court "will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below." *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753, *cert. denied*, *Catawba Indian Tribe v. South Carolina*, 552 U.S. 888, 128 S. Ct. 256 (2007).

The appellate court reviews questions of law on a de novo basis. *Town of Summerville*, 378 S.C. at 110, 662 S.E.2d at 41. On the other hand, questions of fact are subject to "the substantial evidence standard of review." *Brooks v. Benore Logistics Sys.*, 442 S.C. 462, 476, 900 S.E.2d 436 (2024).

"Under the substantial evidence standard of review, [the appellate] court may not substitute its judgment for that of the [trial court] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 81-82, 710 S.E.2d 454, 456 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate court may also substitute its

judgment for that of the trial court if the trial court’s factual finding “is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole[.]” *Brooks*, 442 S.C. at 476 (internal quotation marks omitted). “‘Substantial evidence’ is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the [trial court] reached or must have reached in order to justify its action.” *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. **The Statute of Limitations Applicable to Waterfall’s Claims Against Ponce Had Not Expired at the Time Any of the Said Claims Were Filed.**

The trial court found that that a three-year statute of limitations applies to Waterfall’s claims against Ponce. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-520, *et seq.* Ponce performed the framing work on the Smiths’ residence in 2017. On October 24, 2019, Waterfall filed its claims for negligence, equitable indemnity, and contribution against Ponce by way of a Third-Party Complaint. (R. pp. ____.) Clearly these claims were timely filed within the three-year limitations period.

Waterfall executed a contract entitled “Settlement Agreement and Release” with the Smiths and other subcontractors on December 29, 2022 (R. pp. ____.) This document expressly states that “any and all claims and potential claims that Waterfall has or may have against [Ponce]” are “specifically preserv[ed].” (*Settlement Agreement*, filed August 6, 2023, p. 4.) The Settlement Agreement and Release further states that Ponce “will **NOT** be a party to any release relevant to this Settlement Agreement. . . . No party to this Settlement Agreement is releasing Ponce . . . from any liability or potential liability related to [the instant] Litigation.” (*Emphasis in original.*) (*Settlement Agreement*, filed August 6, 2023, p. 4, R. pp. ____.)

“The term ‘release’ has been defined as the ‘relinquishment, concession, or giving up of a right, claim, or privilege, by the person in whom it exists or to whom it accrues, to the person against whom it might have been demanded or enforced.’” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 492, 649 S.E.2d 494, 498 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting 76 C.J.S. *Release* § 2 (1994)). “A release is an agreement providing that a duty owed to the maker of the release is discharged immediately. . . . Whether a particular agreement constitutes a release is to be determined from the intent of the parties.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 374 S.C. at 492, 649 S.E.2d at 498 (*internal citation omitted*).

Under South Carolina law “[t]he release of one tortfeasor does not constitute a release of others who contributed to the plaintiff’s injuries unless the parties intended such a release or the plaintiff received full satisfaction.” *Scott v. Fruehauf Corp.*, 302 S.C. 364, 368, 396 S.E.2d 354, 356 (1990). Here, the Settlement Agreement and Release did not serve to release Waterfall’s claims and potential claims against the subcontractors who were parties to that contract. However, by its express terms, the Settlement and Agreement and Release did serve to release Waterfall’s claims and potential claims against Ponce. Instead, Waterfall expressly preserved the right to pursue all claims and potential claims against Ponce that related to the deficient construction of the Smiths’ residence.

In this regard, South Carolina courts have recognized that “[a] release is a contract and contract principles of law should be used to determine what the parties intended.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries, supra*, at 497, 649 S.E.2d at 501. “If a contract’s language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and its language determines the instrument’s force and effect.” *Id.* at 499, 649 S.E.2d at 502. In effect, the court must enforce the terms of an unambiguous release agreement as written.

Here, the express language of the Settlement Agreement and Release clearly and unambiguously states that Waterfall is “specifically preserving” “any and all claims and potential claims that Waterfall has or may have against [Ponce]”, and that “[n]o party to this Settlement Agreement is releasing Ponce . . . from any liability or potential liability related to [the instant] Litigation.” (*Settlement Agreement*, filed August 6, 2023, p. 4, R. pp. ____.) This unambiguous contractual language is legally enforceable as written. Thus, Waterfall had the right to pursue all claims against Ponce that were related to Ponce’s framing work on the Smiths’ home. *See Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 374 S.C. at 499, 649 S.E.2d at 502.

It is undisputed that Waterfall’s Third-Party Complaint against Ponce was timely filed (*Waterfall’s Reply to Defendants’ Countercl. and Third-Party Compl.*) In that pleading, Waterfall alleged causes of action against Ponce for negligence, equitable indemnity, and contribution (*Id.*, R. pp. ____.) Waterfall did not release these claims against Ponce when it entered into the Settlement Agreement with the Smiths. *See Louden v. Moragne*, 327 S.C. 465, 467, 486 S.E.2d 525, 526 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding that “the clear language of the release indicates that Louden . . . preserved her right to pursue a tort action against Moragne to establish her entitlement to underinsured motorist benefits. This was a right which existed from the date of the accident and was not ‘created’ by the terms of the release”); *see also Scott*, 302 S.C. at 368, 396 S.E.2d at 356; *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 374 S.C. at 497, 649 S.E.2d at 501.

Instead, through the unambiguous language of the Settlement Agreement, Waterfall preserved its right to continue to pursue its negligence, equitable indemnity, and contribution claims against Ponce. *See Scott*, 302 S.C. at 368, 396 S.E.2d at 356; *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 374 S.C. at 497, 649 S.E.2d at 501; *Louden*, 327 S.C. at 467, 486 S.E.2d at 526. The trial court erred in concluding otherwise and in ruling that such claims were time-barred. *See Louden*, 327 S.C. at 467, 486 S.E.2d at 526.

Next, it must be determined whether Waterfall had the right to pursue the breach of contract and breach of implied warranty claims alleged against Ponce in the Amended Complaint despite the fact that the Amended Complaint was filed more than three years after Ponce's defective framing took place. (R. pp. ____.) This issue is governed by Rule 15(c), *SCRCP*, which provides in relevant part: "Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading."

Rule 15 permits the amendment of a complaint, and subsection (c) allows for that amendment to relate back to the filing of the original complaint so as to render the amended complaint timely for statute of limitations purposes. *Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 496, 804 S.E.2d 252, 265 (2017). The test for relation back under Rule 15(c) is whether claim raised in the amended pleading "arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth in the original pleading[]." Rule 15(c), *SCRCP*.

"The central requirement here is that the party defending against the new claim have sufficient notice of it, *i.e.*, the new claim must be 'logically related' to the *matters originally pleaded* so that the defendant is not prejudiced by the new claim asserted after the statute of limitations has expired." *Whitfield Constr. Co. v. Bank of Tokyo Trust Co.*, 338 S.C. 207, 222-23, 525 S.E.2d 888, 897 (Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis in original). In *Whitfield Constr.*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals explicated upon this point by stating:

In federal practice, the factors to determine whether or not a claim arose out of the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth in the original pleading include: (1) whether the party defending against the new claim had notice of it; (2) whether the party seeking to add the new claim will rely on the same kind of evidence offered in support of the original claim to prove the new claim; and (3) whether unfair surprise to the defending party would result if the amendment were to relate back.

Id. at 223, 525 S.E.2d at 897 (citing 3 James Wm. Moore, *Moore's Federal Practice* § 15.19[2] (Daniel R. Coquillette et al. eds., 3d ed. 1999)).

During the hearing on Ponce's summary judgment motion, Waterfall's counsel explained that the relation back test was easily satisfied here:

[MS. MOORE:] Your Honor, in 2019, [Ponce] was sued for negligence based on the constructual defects of the home. The breach of contract and the breach of implied warranty are all based on that same occurrence, that same conduct that happened when they were hired to come onto this property and work on this house. There's no separate transaction that we're talking about. There's no separate occurrence, it's the same time period.

(*Transcript of Record*, p. 13, lines 15–22, R. p. ____.)

As counsel explained, Waterfall's new claims against Ponce in the Amended Complaint for breach of contract and breach of implied warranty are logically related to the existing claims for negligence, equitable indemnity, and contribution because they all arose out of Ponce's unworkmanlike and defective framing of the Smiths' residence. *See Whitfield Constr.*, 338 S.C. at 222-23, 525 S.E.2d at 897. Once the Third-Party Complaint against Ponce was filed, Ponce was on notice of the basis of the new claims. The claims all rely on the same evidence. *See id.* at 223, 525 S.E.2d at 897. Ponce would suffer no unfair surprise if he were required to defend against the additional claims for breach of contract and breach of implied warranty. *See id.*

As the foregoing analysis shows, all of Waterfall's claims against Ponce were timely. Thus, the trial court committed reversible error in entering summary judgment against Waterfall on its negligence and breach of warranty claims on statute of limitations grounds.

B. Summary Judgment Could Not Be Appropriately Entered on Waterfall's Equitable Indemnity Claim

A claim for equitable indemnity arises ““where the wrongful act of the defendant has involved the plaintiff in litigation with others or placed him in such relation with others as makes

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