**RECEIVED**

**Nov 05 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2024-000772

---

Waterfall Investment and Construction Group, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

A&E Construction & Maintenance, LLC, Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders,  
Creative Drafting and Designs, Defendants  
Of which Jeronimo Ponce d/b/a JP & Sons Builders is the

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**WILSON HEYWARD & REESER, LLC**

Brandon T. Reeser, Esquire  
P.O. Box 13177  
Charleston, South Carolina 29422  
Telephone: (843) 762-4567

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

## ARGUMENT

1. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR NEGLIGENCE AND BREACH OF CONTRACT ARE DISGUISED OR REPEATED CLAIMS FOR EQUITABLE INDEMNITY.

As this Court determined in the Stoneledge series of cases, claims for equitable indemnity, though pled under separate or multiple headings, theories, or descriptions, will be dismissed and consolidated into a single equitable indemnity claim as a matter of law. See Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, 413 S.C. 630, 776 S.E.2d 434 (Ct. App. 2015); Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Clear View Const., LLC, 413 S.C. 615, 776 S.E.2d 426 (Ct. App. 2015).

As this Court noted in those matters, “[t]he character of an action is primarily determined by the allegations contained in the complaint.” 413 S.C. 630, 635, 776 S.E.2d 434, 437 (citing Seebaldt v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 269 S.C. 691, 692, 239 S.E.2d 726, 727 (1977)). With regard to its Negligence claim, Appellant pled as follows in its first and second third-party complaints filed in 2019 and 2022 and its latest amended pleading filed in 2024:

As a result of Subcontractors’ negligence, Plaintiff has incurred, and will continue to incur actual damages in an amount to be determined by the court and may incur settlement costs in settling Defendants’ claims, plus the costs associated with investigating Defendants’ claims and defending this action as well as special and consequential damages, including damage to its business and business reputation, in an amount to be proven at trial.

Appellant’s Reply & Third-Party Compl., p 13 (R. p. 52); Appellant’s Reply to Am. Ans. & Third-Party Compl., p. 19 (R. p. 92).

As a result of Subcontractors’ negligence, Waterfall incurred, and will continue to incur actual damages in an amount to be determined by the court and did incur settlement costs in settling the Smiths’ claims, plus the costs associated with investigating the Smiths’ claims and defending the Smiths’ action as well as special and consequential damages, including damage to Waterfall’s business and business reputation, in an amount to be proven at trial.

Appellant’s Am. Compl., p. 7 (R. p. 109).

In its Amended Answer, Appellant made the same allegations as to its Breach of Contract claim:

As a result of the breach by each of the Subcontractors, Waterfall incurred, and will continue to incur actual damages in an amount to be determined by the court and did incur settlement costs in settling the Smiths' claims, plus the costs associated with investigating the Smiths' claims and defending the Smiths' action as well as special and consequential damages, including damage to Waterfall's business and business reputation, in an amount to be proven at trial.

Id. at 8-9 (R. pp. 110-111).

In all three pleadings, Appellant's alleged damages stem directly from the claims asserted against it by the Smiths or those amounts paid by Appellant to the Smiths in settlement of the Smiths' claims against it. Appellant's Reply & Third-Party Compl., pp. 10-13; (R. pp. 49-52); Appellant's Reply to Am. Ans. & Third-Party Compl., pp. 17-21 (R. pp. 89-93); Appellant's Am. Compl., pp. 3-9 (R. pp. 105-111). Further, on March 3, 2021, the lower court held that that Appellant's Negligence claim was a disguised claim for Equitable Indemnity as a matter of law. Ord. Granting Atl. Elec. Svcs.' Mot. Summ. J., p. 1 (R. p. 3). Appellant has not appealed this order following the final determination of this case by the lower court on April 17, 2024, and as such, its holding should be affirmed. See Ord. Denying Appellant's Mot. for Reconsideration (R. pp. 6-8); Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 432, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance") (citation omitted).

As Appellant's Negligence and Breach of Contract claims stem from Appellant's own liability to and settlement with the Smiths and as Appellant has not appealed the lower court's holding that its Negligence claim is merely a disguised claims for equitable indemnity, the lower court's order granting summary judgment as to those claims should be affirmed.

2. APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONTRIBUTION IS BARRED UNDER SECTIONS 15-38-20 & 15-38-40 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS.

In each of its pleadings, Appellant has brought a cause of action for Contribution against Respondent. Appellant's Reply & Third-Party Compl., p. 13; (R. p. 52); Appellant's Reply to Am. Ans. & Third-Party Compl., pp. 20-21 (R. pp. 92-93); Appellant's Am. Compl., pp. 7-8 (R. 109-110). "The common law rule against contribution was abrogated in 1988 when our General Assembly enacted the South Carolina Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act." Vermeer v. Wood/Chuck Chipper, 336 S.C. 53, 68, 518 S.E.2d 301, 309 (Ct. App. 1999). Because the Act is in derogation of the common law, it must be strictly construed. See Watson v. Sellers, 299 S.C. 426, 433, 385 S.E.2d 369, 373 (Ct. App. 1989).

Respondent's only statutory basis for contribution is found in Section 15-38-20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, which states:

A tortfeasor who enters into a settlement with a claimant is not entitled to recover contribution from another tortfeasor whose liability for the injury or wrongful death is not extinguished by the settlement nor in respect to any amount paid in a settlement which is in excess of what was reasonable.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(D) (1988).

In this case, the settlement agreement between Appellant and the Smiths is clear that Respondent was specifically and fully excluded from any release in its favor by either the Smiths or Appellant:

All Settling Parties are hereby releasing the other Settling Parties...yet specifically preserving any and all claims that [Appellant] has or may have against [Respondent]. [Respondent]...will NOT be a party to any release relevant to this Settlement agreement....No Party to this Settlement Agreement is releasing [Respondent] from any liability or potential liability related to [this litigation].

Resp't Mot. Summ. J. – Ex. A, pp. 3-4 (R. pp. 132-133).

This Court has specifically addressed whether a settling party may maintain a contribution claim against an alleged joint tortfeasor without settling that alleged joint tortfeasor's liability in the settlement itself. G & P Trucking v. Parks Auto Sales Service & Salvage, Inc., 357 S.C. 82, 591 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App. 2003). That answer is unambiguously “no.” Id. at 88, 591 S.E.2d at 45 (“The plain language of section 15–38–20(D) yields only one interpretation, namely that extinguishment of the defending joint tortfeasor's liability must have resulted directly from the settlement itself.”) (emphasis added).

Further, Section 15-38-40 of the South Carolina Code of Laws also bars Appellant's right to contribution as it only permits Appellant to bring such a claim when, assuming a settlement agreement does extinguish a common liability, Appellant has “discharged by payment the common liability within the statute of limitations period applicable to claimant's right of action against him.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-40(D) (1988) (emphasis added).

In its initial third-party complaint filed on October 24, 2019, Appellant pled that Respondent was a subcontractor that performed work at the Smiths' home, and Respondent was added as a party to the case at that time. Appellant's Reply & Third-Party Compl., pp. 8-10 (R. pp. 47-49). Therefore, October 24, 2019 was the latest date by which the Smiths were put on notice that Respondent was a party against which they had or may have had claims for deficient construction. Pursuant to Section 15-3-530 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the statute of limitations for the Smiths to bring such direct claims expired on October 24, 2022, more than two months before Appellant's settlement with the Smiths was executed. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2001). Thus, any settlement payment by Appellant was for its own liability as any liability Respondent may have had to the Smiths was extinguished as a matter of law prior to such settlement. Appellant concedes this in its affidavit in opposition to Respondent's Motion. Aff. of

David A. Brown, p. 4 (R. p. 150).

This case presents relevant facts almost identical to those analyzed by our Supreme Court in Progressive Max Ins. Co. v. Floating Caps, Inc. 405 S.C. 35, 747 S.E.2d 178 (2013). In Progressive, a pedestrian brought claims against a driver for injuries sustained in an accident. Id. at 39, 180. The pedestrian executed two settlement agreements with the driver approximately five months and eight months respectively after the statute of limitations expired on the pedestrian's claims. Id. at 40-41, 180. After execution of the settlement agreements, the driver's insurance carrier, Progressive, brought a contribution action against a bar, Silver Dollar, for serving the driver alcohol. Id. at 41, 181. The circuit court granted summary judgment to Silver Dollar under Sections 15-38-20 and 15-38-40 because Silver Dollar's liability was not extinguished by the operative settlement agreements and because the statute of limitations for the pedestrian's claims expired prior their execution. Id. at 42-43, 182-183. After reviewing both statutes, our Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court for the same reasons as Progressive failed to execute the settlement agreements prior to the running of the statute of limitations and failed to extinguish Silver Dollar's liability in the settlement agreements themselves. Id. at 53-54, 188.

Because Appellant's right to contribution is barred by the terms of Sections 15-38-20 and 15-38-40 of the South Carolina Code of Laws and as interpreted by this Court and our Supreme Court, the circuit court's grant of summary judgment as to Appellant's Contribution claim should be affirmed.

3. APPELLANT IS BARRED FROM MAINTAINING ANY INDEPENDENT BREACH OF WARRANTY, BREACH OF CONTRACT, OR NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS AS THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR SUCH CLAIMS EXPIRED BEFORE THEY WERE FILED.

As discussed above, Appellant brought the same Equitable Indemnity, Negligence, and Contribution claims against Respondent in its Amended Complaint as it did in its first and second third-party complaints. However, in its amended pleading, Appellant asserted new Breach of Warranty and Breach of Contract claims, which should also be dismissed. Appellant's Am. Compl., pp. 8-9 (R. pp. 110-111).

Our Supreme Court has long held that a builder who contracts to construct a dwelling impliedly warrants that the work undertaken will be performed in a careful, diligent, and workmanlike manner. Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., Inc., 299 S.C. 335, 344, 384 S.E.2d 730, 736 (1989). However, in this case, Appellant was the builder, and it defended and settled breach of warranty claims brought by the Smiths' against it. Appellant's Ans. & Third-Party Compl., pp. 2-8 (R. pp. 41-47); Resp't Mot. Summ. J. – Ex. A, p. 6 (R. p. 134); Aff. of David A. Brown, p. 3 (R. p. 149). While Appellant allegedly agreed to purchase the home as part of the settlement, there is no evidence in the record that Appellant has ever owned the subject property such that it can maintain any claim for breach of warranty. Even if true, Appellant's claim would be barred as Appellant would have purchased the property with full notice of the construction deficiencies allegedly related to Respondent's work. Aff. of David A. Brown, p. 3 (R. p. 149).

To the extent Appellant asserts that its Breach of Warranty claim is an assigned claim from the Smiths, the statute of limitations for such a claim as to Respondent ran over two months prior to the execution of the Smiths' assignment. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2001); Resp't Mot.

Summ. J. – Ex. A, pp. 3-4 (R. pp. 132-133). Thus, at the time of settlement, there was no Breach of Warranty claim in existence for the Smiths to assign.

Appellant’s Breach of Contract claims fails for similar reasons. Of note, Appellant has only alleged the existence and breach of a contract since settling its claims with the Smiths, and Appellant cannot split its causes of action arising from the construction of the Smiths’ home. See Appellant’s Reply & Third-Party Compl. (R. pp. 40-53); Appellant’s Reply to Am. Ans. & Third-Party Compl. (R. pp. 73-94); Appellant’s Am. Compl. (R. pp. 103-112); Floyd v. F.I.T. Corp., 191 S.C. 518, 5 S.E.2d 299, 301 (“A single cause of action cannot be split either as to relief demanded or grounds on which recovery is sought”) (citation omitted).

Even had the contract existed, the statute of limitations for breach expired, at its latest, September 9, 2022, three years from the filing of the Smiths’ Answer & Counterclaims, at which point Appellant was put on notice that there were alleged deficiencies with Respondent’s alleged work at the residence. See Smith Ans., p. 5 (R. p. 26); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2001). In the event Appellant asserts its Breach of Contract claim was an assigned claim from the Smiths, such is also barred by the expiration of the statute of limitations prior to assignment. Id.; Resp’t Mot. Summ. J. – Ex. A, pp. 4, 7 (R. pp. 133, 135). Finally, Appellant failed to present any admissible evidence that a contract between Appellant and Respondent existed and merely repeated the allegations in its Amended Complaint in opposition to Respondent’s Motion. Aff. of David A. Brown, pp. 2-3 (R. pp. 148-149); See Appellant’s Am. Compl. (R. 103-112).

To the extent Appellant’s Negligence claim arises from (1) the alleged purchase of the Smith residence as part of Appellant’s settlement agreement or (2) the assignment of any such claims from the Smiths, Appellant’s Negligence claim would also be barred as (1) no evidence was presented to the lower court that Appellant owned the subject property as to maintain such a

claim; (2) even if true, Appellant purchased the property with notice of the alleged defects therein; and (3) any negligence claim the Smiths may have maintained against Respondent expired under the statute of limitations before it could have been assigned to Appellant. Aff. of David A. Brown, pp. 2-3 (R. pp. 148-149); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2001).

As the applicable statute of limitations for Appellant's Breach of Contract and Breach of Warranty claims expired either prior to Appellant filing its Amended Complaint or as an "assigned claim" from the Smiths, the lower court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed. Further, all three claims for Negligence, Breach of Contract, and Breach of Warranty based on Appellant's alleged position as an owner of the subject property following settlement fail as Appellant bought the Smith residence with clear notice of the alleged deficiencies in its construction. Monroe v. Wood, 186 S.C. 507, 197 S.E. 39, 43 (1938) ("It seems wholly useless to cite other authorities to establish the postulate that it is the rule long established in this jurisdiction that: 'That if one accept an article the defect of which is obvious, or discernable upon reasonable inspection, and nevertheless accepts the article, he waives the right to complain of the patent defects.'").

4. RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S EQUITABLE INDEMNITY CLAIM AS APPELLANT ADMITS THAT IT IS ULTIMATELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ALLEGED DEFICIENT WORK PERFORMED BY RESPONDENT.

Finally, in all three pleadings, Appellant asserted a claim for Equitable Indemnity against Respondent. Appellant's Reply & Third-Party Compl., pp. 10-11; (R. pp. 49-50); Appellant's Reply to Am. Ans. & Third-Party Compl., pp. 17-18 (R. pp. 89-90); Appellant's Am. Compl., pp. 3-4 (R. pp. 105-106). A right of indemnity can exist under equitable principles where one person is exposed to liability by the wrongful act of another in which he does not join. Stuck v. Pioneer Logging Machinery, Inc., 279 S.C. 22, 24, 301 S.E.2d 552, 553 (1983). "Equitable

indemnity cases involve a fact pattern in which the first party is at fault, but the second party is not.” Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman–Singleton, Inc. (Winnsboro I), 303 S.C. 52, 57, 398 S.E.2d 500, 503 (Ct.App.1990) (aff’d 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (1992) (Winnsboro II)). “If the second party is also at fault, he comes to court without equity and has no right to indemnity.” Id. at 57-58, 503.

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